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Andrew Harris 

Non-Executive Chairman 

Andrew was appointed to the board of the Company on 11 September 2009.   

Andrew has more than 20 years’ experience in the marketing industry.  He qualified as a Chartered Accountant 
with Ernst and Whinney, and subsequently worked in the oil, publishing and software industries.  Andrew joined 
Evans Hunt Scott in its formative years, an agency of some 40 people, as its first finance director.  He left 17 
years later in 2005 as Chief Executive of a top 5 UK marketing services group with turnover in excess of £100m 
and over 350 staff.  In this period Andrew gained experience in acquisitions, mergers, divestments, restructures, 
rationalisations and operational initiatives to improve market position and profitability.  Andrew is now an 
independent consultant providing commercial and management advice.   

Kerry Simpson 

Chief Executive Officer 

Kerry joined the Group as Managing Director of Cubo Brand Communications Limited when it was acquired by 
the Company on 13 February 2006 and was appointed to the board of the Company on 2 July 2008. 

Kerry has been involved in the marketing communications industry for 30 years and, with Chris Walmsley, was 
a co-founder of Cubo. Kerry’s career has included positions at CPM Field Marketing, Cerca Marketing (the 
promotional marketing division of Ted Bates) and LGM Marketing, working on integrated campaigns for major 
international brands. 

Kerry holds 31,806,742 ordinary shares in the Company, comprising, at the balance sheet date, 16.2% of its 
issued share capital.   

Ian Mansel-Thomas 

Group Chief Financial Officer 

Ian joined the Group as Chief Financial Officer on 28 February 2011.   

Ian has more than 20 years’ experience in the media and marketing industries, before joining the Group spending 
8 years as Director of Operations and Finance at Nexus Productions, one of the UK's leading commercials 
production companies.  An integral part of the senior management team at Nexus, Ian was responsible for the 
full financial and commercial function of the company as it grew from a turnover of £2m to over £9m.  His wide 
commercial experience includes setting up international subsidiaries and joint ventures, acquisitions and 
integrations, group consolidations, domestic and international business affairs negotiation with agencies and 
brands, copyright, trademark and intellectual property litigation, HR and IT strategy, international treasury policy 
and process and change management. 
  
Kate Ross 

Kate is the Joint Managing Director of Eight & Four Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, which she founded with 
Amy McCulloch in 2008.  Eight and Four Limited has grown more than five-fold since its acquisition and Kate has 
been instrumental in keeping the agency’s service offering at the leading edge of digital and communication 
services.  She and Amy have greatly expanded the agency’s client base, which now includes Melia, Marie Curie, 
King.com, Photobox and Pernod Ricard. 
 
Rebecca Brennan 

Rebecca is the Managing Director of the marketing agency within Cubo Communications Group Limited.  She 
joined the Group when her agency, The Hub Agency Limited, was brought into the Group in 2018.  Since her 
appointment, the Cubo agency has added clients including Royal Mail, Yeo Valley, Arla Foods and Kings College 
London.    
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Business review 

The group’s financial performance was moderate in 2019, with an operating profit of £703,000, though at a 
margin that was markedly down on the previous year. Parts of Cubo, the trading agency arm of the parent 
company, faced challenges in 2019 in attracting long term clients, despite significant new business efforts. A 
restructuring plan for these parts of Cubo was implemented in early 2020, with clients and some staff moving 
across to Eight & Four, our digitally-led creative agency. Inkling suffered the loss of a number of large clients 
during the year.   

In the middle of the year, we acquired the remaining 10% of the shares of Inkling Communications Limited, as 
well as the remaining 13.33% of Feed Films Limited. They are both now fully owned subsidiaries of the Group. 

Key performance indicators 

Group management monitors three primary KPIs – (i) operating margin; (ii) staff costs as a percentage of gross 
profit; and (iii) gross profit per head.  Each of these KPIs can vary significantly from business to business.   

Operating margin is calculated as operating profit divided by gross profit.  Achieving a margin of 15% is 
considered a good performance in our sector.  Client pressure on margins has continued, alongside upward 
pressure on salaries, and across the Group an operating margin of 8.3% was achieved in the year.  This was 
markedly down on 2018’s operating margin of 17.0%, though higher than 2017’s 5%.   

Staff costs as a percentage of gross profit is particularly important in the marketing services industry, where 
people are the main cost to the business, and therefore one of the main factors in determining operating margin.  
We target a figure of 60% for this KPI.  This continues to be a challenging target, as salary levels in the industry 
have continued to outstrip client budgets.  Our staff cost ratio at 70% sits above our 60% target and steps to 
mitigate this were in place from the start of 2020.  We continue to closely monitor our staffing levels to ensure 
they are commensurate with income. 

Gross profit per head gives us a measure of productivity.  An efficient business in our sector should be generating 
a gross profit of between £80,000 and £120,000 per head.  2019 saw this at £96,000 across the Group, a little 
down on 2018’s £101,000, but well above the 2017 figure of £72,000.  

Risks and uncertainties 

The effect of the COVID-19 pandemic has created greater risks than those seen in previous years.  Uncertainty 
resulting from the effects of the pandemic will continue for the medium term and that is expected to last well 
into 2021. COVID-19 restrictions have hit specific areas of our business, notably our work in the travel and leisure 
sector across several Group agencies and in the experiential marketing and events side of Inkling’s services. It is 
hard to say with certainty when those parts of our business will return to pre-COVID levels, but we continue to 
take a proactive approach to managing our liquidity and we move towards 2021 with a much-reduced cost base 
to mitigate against the extended effects of the pandemic on our revenues. 

It is a risk throughout the marketing services industry that existing clients might reduce expenditure or find 
alternative agencies. The Group seeks to find a way to measure the extent of this risk and our approach is to 
measure and monitor how much of the year’s gross profit is genuinely secure – barring client default or 
liquidation.  This secure income is the total of gross profit already earned, plus retainer fees covered by 
contractual notice periods.  This is monitored on a monthly basis.  Of the current forecast gross profit for 2020, 
it is estimated that at the end of November approximately 97.7% was secure on the above basis. 

 
Approved by the Board of Directors 

 and signed on behalf of the Board 
by Kerry Simpson 

 

21 December 2020 
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The Directors present their report and financial statements of Cubo Communications Group Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiary undertakings (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2019. 

The Group in 2019 achieved an operating profit of £703,000 (2018 - £1,306,000).  At 31 December 2019 the 
Group had net current assets of £3.617 million and net assets of £9.182 million.   

Principal activities and business review 

The principal activity of the Group during the year was the provision of marketing services; comprising 
advertising, promotional marketing, digital marketing, public relations, experiential marketing and video 
production.   

The principal activities of the Company are that of a holding company and the provision of advertising and 
promotional marketing. 

Results and dividends 

The audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out on pages 11 to 42.   

The Directors have not recommended a dividend payment for the year.  

The Company has taken advantage of Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and consequently a profit and loss 
account for the Company alone is not presented. 

Directors and their interests 

The directors who served the Company during the year together with their interests (including family interests) 
in the shares of the Company at the beginning and end of the year were as follows:  

 Ordinary Shares of 1p each 
 31 December 2019 1 January 2019 
Andrew Harris Nil Nil 
Kerry Simpson 31,806,742 31,806,742 
Ian Mansel-Thomas Nil Nil 
Kate Ross 8,485,900 8,485,900 
Rebecca Brennan Nil Nil 

 

Subsidiary undertakings 

At 31 December 2019, no director of the Company held shares or debentures in any of the Group’s subsidiary 
undertakings.   

Employment policy 

It is the Group's policy to employ individuals with the necessary qualifications and experience without regard to 
sex, sexual orientation, marital status, race, belief, colour, age, nationality or religion.  Full and fair consideration 
is given to applications for employment made by disabled persons.   

The Group recognises the great importance of the contributions made by all employees and aims to keep them 
informed on matters affecting them as employees and on developments within the Group.  Communication and 
consultation are achieved by a variety of means, both within individual operating companies and on a group-
wide basis.   

Creditor payment policy 

The Group makes purchases from suppliers according to the terms and conditions agreed in advance between 
the two parties.  Payments are made to suppliers when the goods or services have been received and the terms 
and conditions of the agreement have been met.  On average the Group took 49 days to pay its creditors.   

Environmental policy 

The Group takes its environmental responsibilities seriously with policies and initiatives in place covering 
recycling and the minimisation of its carbon footprint.   
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Auditors 

RSM UK Audit LLP have indicated their willingness to continue in office and in accordance with the provisions of 
the Companies Act 2006 it is proposed that they be re-appointed auditors for the ensuing year.   

Future Developments 

Likely future developments in the businesses of the group are discussed in the Chief Executive’s statement. 

Financial instruments and risk management 

Information on the use of financial instruments by the group is disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements. 
Exposure and management of principal risks are disclosed in the strategic report. 

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and the Annual Report in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and company financial statements for each financial year.  
The directors have elected under company law to prepare group financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as adopted by the European Union (“EU”) and have elected 
under company law to prepare the company financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU. 

The financial statements are required by law and IFRS adopted by the EU to present fairly the financial position 
of the group and the company and the financial performance of the group.  The Companies Act 2006 provides 
in relation to such financial statements that references in the relevant part of that Act to financial statements 
giving a true and fair view are references to their achieving a fair presentation. 

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and the company and of the profit or loss of the 
group for that period. In preparing each of the group and company financial statements, the directors are 
required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
• state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRS adopted by the EU;  
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

Company will continue in business. 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the group’s and the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the group and the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with 
the Companies Act 2006.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and the company 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors 

In so far as the directors are aware: 

• there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s auditors are unaware; and 
• the directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken in order to make themselves aware of any 

relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information. 

 
Approved by the Board of Directors 

 and signed on behalf of the Board 
by Kerry Simpson 

 
21 December 2020 
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HEADLINES 

• 2019 operating profit £703,000, down from £1,306,000 in 2018. 

• Operating profit margins decreased from 17.0% in 2018 to 8.3% in 2019.   

• Acquisition of the remaining 10% of the shares in Inkling Communications Limited and 13.33% of the 
shares in Feed Films Ltd, embedding consumer PR, experiential marketing services and film creation at 
the centre of the Group. 

• Continued growth of Eight & Four Limited, placing data-driven, digitally-led services at the forefront of 
the Group’s development. 

REVIEW OF THE YEAR 

2019 was a mixed year for the Group with strong performances from eight&four and parts of the Cubo agency. 
The overall moderate Group operating profit of £703,000 at reduced margins over the previous year led to a 
restructuring plan implemented in early 2020. Under this plan, some Cubo agency clients and staff moved across 
to eight&four resulting in projected cost efficiencies and subsequent margin enhancements for 2020. 

While these moves were beginning to bed in, the COVID-19 pandemic hit and our concentration turned to 
stabilising the business in the face of rapidly shrinking, and in some cases disappearing, client budgets. 

Our commitment to the pursuit of new business has never wavered and we have been able to record several 
welcome wins over the past few months. However, like most businesses in our sector, we have faced difficult 
challenges and taken some tough decisions to streamline our resources. 

As a result, we will enter 2021 as a leaner business, but with an optimism that we are in good shape to capitalise 
on the inevitable market upturn when it eventually comes. Our focus will be on organic growth across the Group, 
building back via our strongest existing client relationships, redoubling our efforts to cross sell services wherever 
possible and continuing to invest at pre-pandemic levels in new business development. 

I am pleased to report that during the course of 2019 we completed the acquisition of the remainder of Inkling 
and Feed, making them both fully owned subsidiaries of the Group. 

My thanks, as ever, go to my fellow board members and all the employees of the Group for their support and 
commitment. Their resilience in such challenging times has been truly appreciated. 

 

 
Kerry Simpson 
Chief Executive Officer 

21 December 2020 
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RESULTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2019 the Group generated an operating profit of £703,000 (2018 – £1,306,000) 
on gross profit of £8.5 million (2018 – £7.7 million).   

The following table sets out the key movements in continuing operations between the two years.   

 
Gross 
profit 

Operating 
profit 

 £000 £000 
2018 (continuing operations) 7,552 1,376 
Change in performance of continuing operations 967 (673) 
2019 8,519 703 

 
CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

The Group had a term loan facility through its bankers Coutts.  At the beginning of the period, the amount 
outstanding on this loan was £31,250, which was fully repaid during 2019.   

STAFF NUMBERS 

The average number of employees across 2019 was 89.  At the end of November 2020, the number of employees 
was 59. 

DIVIDENDS 

The Directors have not recommended a dividend (2018: £nil).   

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 

See note 29 on page 37 for information on post balance sheet events. 

 

 

Ian Mansel-Thomas 
Group Chief Financial Officer 

21 December 2020 



CUBO COMMUNICATIONS GROUP LTD  
Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2019 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CUBO COMMUNICATIONS 
GROUP LTD 

 

Page 9 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Cubo Communications Group Limited (the ‘parent company’) and 
its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 December 2019 which comprise the Group Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, the Group and Parent Company Statement of Financial Position, the Group Statement 
of Cash Flows, the Group and Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has 
been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 
adopted by the European Union and, as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. In our opinion: 

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s 
affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended; 

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union; 

• the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as 
adopted by the European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 
2006; and 

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the group and parent company 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, 
including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where: 

• the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements 
is not appropriate; or  

• the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may 
cast significant doubt about the group’s or the parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue. 

Other information 
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.  
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

• the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

• the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 

requirements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their environment 

obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the 

directors’ report. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 

requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

•  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit 

have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

•  the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; 
or 

•  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

•  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

Responsibilities of directors 

As  explained  more  fully  in  the  directors’  responsibilities  statement  set  out  on  page  6,  the  directors  are 

responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 

view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent 

company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent 

company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 

fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 

Reporting Council’s website at: http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our 

auditor’s report. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 

Companies Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members 

those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the 

company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 

 
 

 

Richard Heap FCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)  Date: 22 December 2020 

for and on behalf of RSM UK Audit LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants, 25 Farringdon Street, London EC4A 4AB 
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 Note 

2019 
 

2018 
Continuing 

2018 
Dis-

continued 

2018 
 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 
Revenue 3 14,452 14,175 120 14.295 

Cost of sales  (5,934) (6,623) 13 (6,610) 

Gross profit 3 8,518 7,552 133 7,685 

Administrative expenses  (7,815)  (6,176) (203) (6,379) 

Operating profit 4 703 1,376 (70) 1,306 

Finance costs  (19)   (3) 

Loss on disposal of associate becoming a subsidiary  -   (872) 

Gain on bargain purchases  -   195 

Buy-out of non-controlling interest 17 (191)   - 

Share of profit of associates  -   110 

Impairment of goodwill 7 -   (251) 

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation  493   485 

Tax charge on profit or loss on ordinary activities 6 (119)   (234) 

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation  374   251 

Total comprehensive income  374   251 

      

Profit for the year attributable to:      

Owners of the parent company  374   239 

Non-controlling interests  -   12 

  374   251 

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.   
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  2019 2018 
 Note £000 £000 
 
Assets    
Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  4,555  3,762 
Trade and other receivables 11 2,337 3,959 
Total current assets  6,892 7,721 
Non-current assets    
Goodwill 7 4,758 4,822 
Property, plant and equipment 8 500 118 
Intangibles 9 497 696 
Total non-current assets  5,755 5,636  
Total assets  12,647 13,357 
 
Liabilities    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 12 (2,130) (3,621) 
Lease liabilities 16 (243) - 
Contract liabilities 13 (744) (390) 
Borrowings 18 - (31) 
Current tax liabilities 6 (158) (406) 
Total current liabilities  (3,275) (4,448) 
Non-current liabilities    
Borrowings 18 - - 
Lease liabilities 16 (103) - 
Deferred tax 19 (87) (120) 
Total non-current liabilities  (190) (120) 
Total liabilities  (3,465) (4,568) 
 
Net assets  9,182 8,789 
    
Equity    
Called up share capital 25 1,976 1,960 
Treasury shares  (96) (96) 
Share premium account  1,009 922 
Share option reserve  188 187 
Capital redemption reserve  438 438 
Merger reserve  (150) (150) 
Non-controlling interest reserve  - 85 
Retained earnings  5,817 5,443 
 
Total equity  9,182 8,789 

 

The financial statements on pages 11 to 37 were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 
21 December 2020 and are signed on its behalf by 

Ian Mansel-Thomas  
Group Chief Financial Officer 

Company number 05433076 
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  2019 2018 
 Note £000 £000 

Cash generated from operations 15 1,691 2,209 

Interest paid  - (3) 

Income taxes paid  (333) (130) 

Net cash generated by operating activities  1,358 2,076 

Cash flows from investing activities    

Acquisition of subsidiary (net of cash acquired) 17 - 52 

Purchase of goodwill  - (100) 

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  (12) - 

Buyout of non-controlling interest  (162) - 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (178) (67) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (352) (115) 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Repayment of borrowings and lease liabilities  (213) (75) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (213) (75) 

Net cash used by discontinued operations  - (142) 

Cash and cash equivalents    

At 1 January  3,762 2,018 
Net increase/(decrease) in the year  793 1,744 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  4,555 3,762 

Comprising:    

Cash at bank and in hand  4,555 3,762 

Cash and cash equivalents for the Statement of Financial Position  4,555 3,762 

Cash and cash equivalents for the Statement of Cash Flows  4,555 3,762 
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 Share 

capital 
Treasury 

shares  
Share 

premium 
account  

Share 
option 

reserve 

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 

Merger 
reserve 

Non-
controlling 

interest 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

At 1 January 
2018 1,960 (96) 922 186 438 (150) - 5,204 8,464 
Retained profit 
for the year - - - - - - - 239 239 
Step-acquisition 
of subsidiary - - - - - - 73 - 73 

Profit 
attributable to 
non-controlling 
interest - - - - - - 12 - 12 

Charge for 
share-based 
payment - - - 1 - - - - 1 

At 31 December 
2018 1,960 (96) 922 187 438 (150) 85 5,443 8,789 
Retained profit 
for the year - - - - - - - 374 374 
Buy-out of non-
controlling 
interest 16 - 87 - - - (85) - 18 
Charge for 
share-based 
payment - - - 1 - - - - 1 

At 31 
December 2019 1,976 (96) 1,009 188 438 (150) - 5,817 9,182 

 

The merger reserve arose from the merger of the Company with Paul Simons & Partners Limited in 2006.  Merger 
relief under Section 612 of the Companies Act 2006 was taken and the premium arising on the issue of these 
shares was disregarded as required by Sections 615 and 616 of the Companies Act 2006. 

The capital redemption reserve arose from the repurchase and cancellation of shares prior to 2015. 

The share premium account arose with the issue of Group shares as part of the consideration for the purchase 
of the Group’s subsidiaries Eight and Four Limited, Inkling Communications Limited and Feed Films Limited. 

The Treasury Shares are those shares which have been issued and subsequently repurchased by the Company.  
Treasury Shares are not considered when earnings per share.
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1. Accounting policies  

a) Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and IFRIC 
interpretations for use in the European Union and issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board.  These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling because that is the functional 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the group operates. 

b) Basis of preparation 

The Group financial statements have been prepared in sterling, the functional currency and currency in 
which the majority of the Group’s transactions are denominated, under the historical cost convention 
and in accordance with applicable International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS").  The principal 
accounting policies which have been consistently applied are described below.   

The Directors have satisfied themselves that the Company will in due course be able to satisfy all its 
liabilities within its present banking facilities and have therefore prepared the financial statements on 
the going concern basis. 

c) Standards in effect in 2019 and IFRS in issue  

IFRS 16 is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard 
replaces IAS 17 'Leases' and for lessees eliminates the classifications of operating leases and finance 
leases.  

Subject to exceptions, a 'right-of-use' asset is capitalised in the statement of financial position, 
measured at the present value of the unavoidable future lease payments to be made over the lease 
term. The exceptions relate to short-term leases of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets 
(such as personal computers and small office furniture) where an accounting policy choice exists 
whereby either a 'right-of-use' asset is recognised or lease payments are expensed to profit or loss as 
incurred. A liability corresponding to the capitalised lease will also be recognised, adjusted for lease 
prepayments, lease incentives received, initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of any future 
restoration, removal or dismantling costs. Straight-line operating lease expense recognition will be 
replaced with a depreciation charge for the leased asset (included in operating costs) and an interest 
expense on the recognised lease liability (included in finance costs).  

In the earlier periods of the lease, the expenses associated with the lease under IFRS 16 will be higher 
when compared to lease expenses under IAS 17. However, EBITDA results will be improved as the 
operating expense is replaced by interest expense and depreciation in profit or loss under IFRS 16. For 
classification within the statement of cash flows, the lease payments will be separated into both a 
principal (financing activities) and interest (either operating or financing activities) component. 

Adoption of IFRS 16 

During the year, the Group adopted IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ (IFRS 16) for the first time. IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 
‘Leases’. 

The main change on application of IFRS 16 is the accounting for ‘operating leases’ where rentals payable 
(as adjusted for lease incentives) were previously expensed under IAS 17 on a straight- line basis over 
the lease term. 

Under IFRS 16 a right-of-use asset and a lease liability are recognised for all leases except ‘low- value’ 
and ‘short-term’ leases where lease payments are recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

The Group has applied IFRS 16 retrospectively to all leases, but has elected to recognise any cumulative 
effect against opening reserves at 1 January 2019 under the modified retrospective approach. 
Therefore, the comparative figures are as previously reported under IAS 17. The Group has applied this 
approach subject to the transition provisions set out below. 

 

 

 



CUBO COMMUNICATIONS GROUP LTD  
Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2019  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Page 16 

1. Accounting policies (continued) 

c) Standards in effect in 2019 and IFRS in issue (continued) 

• For all contracts that existed prior to 1 January 2019, the Group has not applied IFRS 16 to reassess 
whether each contract is, or contains, a lease. 

• The right-of-use assets have not been assessed for impairment at 1 January 2019, but have been 
reduced by the amount of any onerous lease provisions at that date. 

• Initial direct costs have been excluded from the measurement of the right-of-use assets, which have 
been recognised at an amount equal to the lease liability on the date of initial application. 

• Hindsight has been applied in determining the lease term for contracts that contain lease extension 
or termination options. 

The amounts recognised for leases at 1 January 2019, have been measured as follows: 

Operating leases under IAS 17, except ‘low value’ and ‘short-term’ leases 

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments at 1 January 2019, 
discounted at the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at that date. 

The right-of-use asset is measured as if IFRS 16 had been applied from commencement of the lease, but 
using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019 to discount future payments. 

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognised by the Group 
at 1 January 2019 is 3.75%. 

 
Reconciliation of lease liability: £0000 

IAS 17 operating lease commitment at 31 December 2018 545 

Impact of discounting (36) 

Additional lease term assessment - 

IFRS 16 lease liability at 1 January 2019 509 

 
The additional lease term assessment relates to the Group’s break clause in the lease, on 1 June 2021. 
On transition, the Group is reasonably certain that this will be exercised. 

There have been improvements and amendments to standards which provide clarifications rather than 
substantive changes to requirements and these have not had a material effect on the financial 
statements.  These improvements and amendments were: 

• Amendments to IAS 28: Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures  
• Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 
• Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle 

The following IFRS and IFRIC Interpretations have been issued but have not been applied by the 
Company in preparing these financial statements as they are not as yet effective. The Company intends 
to adopt these Standards and Interpretations when they become effective, rather than adopt them 
early. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 

c) Standards in effect in 2019 and IFRS in issue (continued) 

• Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards 
• Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material 
• Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 
• Amendments to IFRS 3: Business Combinations 
• Amendment to IFRS 16: Leases – COVID 19-Related Rent Concessions  

The directors do not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material impact 
on the Group in future periods. 

d) Basis of consolidation 

Subsidiary undertakings are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of the subsidiary and therefore exercises control. The existence and effect of both 
current voting rights and potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are 
considered when assessing whether control of an entity is exercised. Subsidiaries are consolidated from 
the date at which the Group obtains the relevant level of control and are de-consolidated from the date 
at which control ceases. 

The acquisition method is used for all business combinations. On acquisition, the cost is measured at 
the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed 
and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Any costs directly 
attributable to the business combination are expensed as incurred. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 (Revised), 
“Business Combinations” are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date. 

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree 
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. 
If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the difference is 
recognised directly in profit or loss.  Any subsequent adjustment to reflect changes in consideration 
arising from contingent consideration amendments are recognised in profit or loss. 

On an acquisition by acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. 

The group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of the 
group. For purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid 
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in 
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity. 

When the group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is 
remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair 
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained 
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised 
in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group had directly 
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies 
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been 
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 

e) Gross revenue recognition 

The group has adopted IFRS 15, which sets out a five-step model to account for revenue arising from 
contracts with customers and requires that revenue be recognized at an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for providing services to a customer. 

The group uses the modified retrospective method applying the standard to all contracts as at 1 January 
2019. The standard introduced a new contract-based revenue recognition model with a measurement 
approach that is based on an allocation of the transaction price. This is described further in the 
accounting policies below. Credit risk is presented separately as an expense rather than adjusted 
against revenue. Contracts with customers are presented in an entity's statement of financial position 
as a contract liability, a contract asset, or a receivable, depending on the relationship between the 
entity's performance and the customer's payment. Customer acquisition costs and costs to fulfil a 
contract can, subject to certain criteria, be capitalised as an asset and amortised over the contract 
period. 

The group’s accounting policies for its revenue streams are disclosed further below. Apart from 
providing more extensive disclosures for the group’s revenue transactions, the application of IFRS 15 
has not had a significant impact on the financial position and/or financial performance of the group. 

Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the group is expected to 
be entitled in exchange for providing services to a customer. For each contract with a customer, the 
group: identifies the contract with a customer; identifies the performance obligations in the contract; 
determines the transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable consideration; 
allocates the transaction price to the separate performance obligations; and recognises revenue when 
or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the transfer to the customer of 
the services promised. 

Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects concessions provided to the 
customer such as discounts, rebates and refunds. The measurement of variable consideration is subject 
to a constraining principle whereby revenue will only be recognised to the extent that it is highly 
probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. The 
measurement constraint continues until the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is 
subsequently resolved. Amounts received that are subject to the constraining principle are initially 
recognised as deferred revenue in the form of a separate refund liability. 

Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised over time as the services are rendered based 
on a fixed price. 

Revenue is taken on fee income in the period to which it relates. Project income is recognised in the 
period in which the project is worked on, with income recognised to reflect stage of completion of each 
project, following reference to project deliverable timelines and as agreed between the agency and 
client. For projects which fall over the financial year end, income is recognised to reflect the partial 
performance of the contractual obligations in accordance with IFRS 15.  We typically satisfy the 
performance obligation with the delivery of a project or service.  Where there are project milestones 
over time, these are taken as performance obligations through the contract and revenue is taken 
accordingly.  Should payment be made in advance of such milestones, this may lead to deferred revenue 
which is then recognised as performance obligations are met. 

Third party costs and the associated income relating to bought in costs directly rechargeable to clients 
are recognised in the period to which they relate. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 

f) Retirement benefit costs 

The pension cost charge for the year represents contributions payable by the Company to the 
Workplace Pension Scheme.   

g) Taxation 

The tax charge or credit represents the sum of current tax and deferred tax.  

The current tax charge or credit is based on taxable profit or loss for the year.  Taxable profit or loss 
differs from profit or loss on ordinary activities before taxation as reported in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 
in other years, and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit or loss and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.  
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax 
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available, against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.  Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business 
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit or loss 
nor the accounting profit or loss. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control 
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of 
the asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is 
settled, or the asset is realised.  Deferred tax is charged or credited in the profit or loss, except when it 
relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with 
in equity. 

h) Goodwill 

Goodwill arising from the purchase of subsidiary undertakings represents the difference between the 
purchase consideration and the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
of a subsidiary acquired, and is capitalised in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 3. Future 
anticipated payments to vendors in respect of earn-outs are based on the Directors’ best estimates of 
these obligations. Earn-outs are dependent on the future performance of the relevant business and are 
reviewed annually. The deferred consideration is discounted to its fair value in accordance with IFRS 3 
and IAS 37. The difference between the fair value of these liabilities and the actual amounts payable is 
charged to the profit and loss account as notional finance costs over the life of the associated liability.  

Goodwill impairment is assessed in accordance with IAS 36.  Impairment has taken place if the carrying 
amount of an asset is greater than its ‘recoverable amount’.  The recoverable amount of an asset is the 
higher of its ‘fair value’ (less the likely costs of disposal) and its ‘value in use’.  Fair value is the price that 
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in the principal 
(or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market conditions.  Value in 
use is the discounted present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset.  The 
discount rate used is the risk-free rate of interest adjusted to reflect the risk associated with the asset.  
This adjusted discount rate should reflect the return that an investor would require from an investment 
in such an asset.  Impairment is recognised in the income statement and is not subsequently reversed.   
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 

h) Goodwill (continued) 

On disposal of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill is 
included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.  

i) Separately acquired intangible assets 

On initial recognition, intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost. The cost of a 
separately acquired intangible asset comprises its purchase price, including import duties and non-
refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates and any directly attributable 
cost of preparing the asset for its intended use. 

After initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are revised at the end of each 
reporting period with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. 

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset - measured as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset - are recognised 
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 

Annual amortisation rates of 20% - 25% have been applied to the Group’s intangible assets, comprising 
the customer relationships of Eight and Four Limited and Inkling Communications Limited at the date 
of their acquisition as subsidiaries. 

j) Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any provision for impairment.  
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful economic lives of assets at 
25% - 33% per annum.  Leasehold improvements are amortised over the lease term.   

Any gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the profit or loss. 

k) Financial assets 

The group has adopted IFRS 9 and the standard introduced classification and measurement models for 
financial assets. A financial asset shall be measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows which arise on specified 
dates and that are solely principal and interest.  

A debt investment shall be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if it is held 
within a business model whose objective is to both hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows 
which arise on specified dates that are solely principal and interest as well as selling the asset on the 
basis of its fair value. All other financial assets are classified and measured at fair value through profit 
or loss unless the entity makes an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses 
on equity instruments (that are not held-for-trading or contingent consideration recognised in a 
business combination) in other comprehensive income ('OCI').  

Despite these requirements, a financial asset may be irrevocably designated as measured at fair value 
through profit or loss to reduce the effect of, or eliminate, an accounting mismatch. For financial 
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, the standard requires the portion of the change 
in fair value that relates to the entity's own credit risk to be presented in OCI (unless it would create an 
accounting mismatch).  

New impairment requirements use an 'expected credit loss' ('ECL') model to recognise an allowance. 
Impairment is measured using a 12-month ECL method unless the credit risk on a financial instrument 
has increased significantly since initial recognition in which case the lifetime ECL method is adopted. 
For receivables, a simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses using a lifetime expected 
loss allowance is available. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 

l) Borrowing 

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of any transaction costs incurred. 
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method with any 
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value being recognised 
over the period of the borrowings. 

Borrowing costs incurred which are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. 

Preference shares which are mandatorily redeemable on a specific date are classified as long term 
liabilities and shown as such in the balance sheet. Dividends on these shares are recognised in the 
income statement as part of finance costs. 

The fair value of the liability portion of convertible loan stock is determined using a market interest rate 
for a comparable loan stock with no conversion option. This amount is recorded as a liability on an 
amortised cost basis until the loan stock is redeemed or converted. The remainder of the carrying 
amount of the loan stock is allocated to the conversion option and shown within equity. 

All borrowings are classified as current unless the group has an unconditional right to defer payment of 
the borrowings until at least twelve months from the balance sheet date. 

m) Segment reporting 

Segmental information is presented based on the way in which financial information is reported 
internally to the chief operating decision maker. The group’s internal financial reporting is organised 
along product and service lines and therefore segmental information has been presented about 
business segments. A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing 
products and services that are subject to risks and returns which are different from those of other 
business segments. 

The results of certain operating segments may be aggregated if they are sufficiently similar in nature. 
Where a business segment contributes in excess of either 10% of total revenue, 10% of total assets or 
10% of the absolute amount of reported profit or loss, it is disclosed as a separate segment.  

Information regarding geographical revenues and non-current assets is disclosed in note 3 to the 
financial statements.  

n) Foreign currency translation 

Items included in the financial statements of each group company are measured using their functional 
currency, being the currency of the primary economic environment in which each company operates. 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Sterling, which is the company’s functional and 
presentational currency. 

Foreign currency transactions are translated using the rate of exchange applicable at the date of the 
transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and 
from the re-translation at the year end of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the income statement. 

o) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and other short term highly liquid 
deposits with original maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings 
in current liabilities on the Statement of Financial Position. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 

p) Trade payables 

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. As the payment period of trade payables is short future cash 
payments are not discounted as the effect is not material. 

q) Trade receivables 

Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value as reduced by 
appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts. 

r) Leases 

On commencement of a contract (or part of a contract) which gives the Company the right to use an 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration, the Company recognises a right-of- use asset 
and a lease liability unless the lease qualifies as a ‘short-term’ lease or a ‘low-value’ lease. 

Short-term leases 
Where the lease term is twelve months or less and the lease does not contain an option to purchase 
the leased asset, lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. 

Leases of low-value assets 
Leases where the underlying asset is ‘low-value’, lease payments are recognised as an expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Initial and subsequent measurement of the right-of-use asset 

A right-of-use asset is recognised at commencement of the lease and initially measured at the amount 
of the lease liability, plus any incremental costs of obtaining the lease and any lease payments made at 
or before the leased asset is available for use by the Group. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. The depreciation methods applied are as follows: 

Leased property  on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the  
   useful life (5.75 years to September 2024) 

The right-of-use asset is adjusted for any re-measurement of the lease liability and lease modifications. 

Initial measurement of the lease liability 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments during the lease term 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or the incremental borrowing rate if the interest 
rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined. 

The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease plus extension periods that the Company is 
reasonably certain to exercise and termination periods that the Company is reasonably certain not to 
exercise. 

Subsequent measurement of the lease liability 

The lease liability is subsequently increased for a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the lease liability and reduced for lease payments. Interest on the lease liability is recognised 
in profit or loss. 

Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability as they are not 
dependent on an index or rate, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the event or 
condition that triggers those payments occurs. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 

r) Leases (continued) 

Remeasurement of the lease liability 

The lease liability is adjusted for changes arising from the original terms and conditions of the lease that 
change the lease term, the Company’s assessment of its option to purchase the leased asset, the 
amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and/or changes in lease payments 
due to a change in an index or rate. The adjustment to the lease liability is recognised when the change 
takes effect and is adjusted against the right-of-use asset, unless the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset is reduced to nil, when any further adjustment is recognised in profit or loss. 

Adjustments to the lease payments arising from a change in the lease term or the lessee’s assessment 
of its option to purchase the leased asset are discounted using a revised discount rate. The revised 
discount rate is calculated as the interest rate implicit in the lease for the remainder of the lease term, 
or if that rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate at the date of 
reassessment. 

Changes to the amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and changes to lease 
payments due to a change in an index or rate are recognised when the change takes effect, and are 
discounted at the original discount rate unless the change is due to a change in floating interest rates, 
when the discount rate is revised to reflect the changes in interest rate. 
 
Lease modifications 

A lease modification is a change that was not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease and 
is accounted for as a separate lease if it increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one 
or more additional assets with a commensurate adjustment to the payments under the lease. 

For a lease modification not accounted for as a separate lease, the lease liability is adjusted for the 
revised lease payments, discounted using a revised discount rate. The revised discount rate used is the 
interest rate implicit in the lease for the remainder of the lease term, or if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the lessee company's incremental borrowing rate at the date of the modification. 

Where the lease modification decreases the scope of the lease, the carrying amount of the right- of-
use asset is reduced to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease. Any difference between the 
adjustment to the lease liability and the adjustment to the right-of-use asset is recognised in profit or 
loss. 

For all other lease modifications, the adjustment to the lease liability is recognised as an adjustment to 
the right-of-use asset. 

s) Leases under IAS17 

The following accounting policies were applied to leases in the year ended 31 December 2018: 

Leases were classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership to the Company. All other leases were classified as operating leases. 

Rentals payable under operating leases were expensed on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease (such 
as up-front cash payments and reimbursement of relocation costs or the cost of lease improvements) 
were also spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
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1. Accounting policies (continued) 

t) Going concern 

The onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in early 2020 has caused significant disruption to the travel, leisure 
and hospitality markets, which are important to Group revenues, and had a negative impact upon 
clients in those sectors as well as others, resulting in the downgrading or delay of anticipated client 
spend.  COVID-19 restrictions have also hit specific areas of our business, notably experiential marketing 
and events and, for a shorter period, film and video production. 

The directors regularly review the group’s liquidity and have prepared budgets and detailed forecasts 
covering a period to 31 December 2021 to manage liquidity.   

These forecasts show that the Group is expecting to be able to continue to meet its liabilities as they 
fall due for the foreseeable future and meet any relevant requirements of lending agreements. The 
Group has been trading in line with revised budgets since the onset of COVID-19 and the directors 
continue to have plans in place to mitigate any cost impact of the pandemic.  

The Group has taken a proactive approach to managing its liquidity throughout this crisis, including 
managing its cost base in line with the drop in revenue and taking advantage of COVID-19 related 
government financial support.  The group has stabilised, and the directors expect a return to previous 
levels of revenue over the next 12 months, but that with net cash of £3.5m at 1 December 2020 the 
group has sufficient cash to cover its debts as they fall due even if they fail to hit budget by as much as 
72%. 

Forecasting medium-term trading remains difficult due to the ongoing uncertainty caused by COVID-
19. However, based on the strong balance sheet that the Group has built, the directors believe that it 
remains appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. Furthermore, despite 
the uncertain future impact of COVID-19 and the resulting impact on the Group’s revenues, the 
directors do not judge that there is material uncertainty that would cast doubt on the Group’s ability to 
act as a going concern in the foreseeable future.   

2. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial information in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice, in 
the case of the Group being International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 
Union, requires the directors to make estimates and judgements that affect the reported amount of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenditure and the disclosures made in the financial statements. Such 
estimates and judgements must be continually evaluated based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events. 

The significant judgements made by management in applying the Group’s accounting policies as set out 
above, and the key sources of estimation, were as follows. 

a) Impairment of goodwill 

The group tests goodwill annually for impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in 
note 1 above. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows 
expected to arise from each cash generating unit and also to estimate a suitable discount rate in order 
to calculate the present values of the anticipated future cash flows.  Future cash flows are considered 
over a 20-year period, based on growth rates of 0% to 4% and based on past experience of long periods 
of cash generation by agencies within the Group.  Given the large figures for goodwill in historic 
acquisitions by the Group, this judgement is a critical one for the Group’s net asset position. 

b) Plant and equipment 

The charge in respect of periodic depreciation is derived after determining an estimate of an asset's 
expected useful life and the expected residual value at the end of its life. Increasing an asset's expected 
life or its residual value would result in a reduced depreciation charge in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  The useful lives of the Group's assets are determined by management at the 
time the asset is acquired and reviewed at least annually for appropriateness. The lives are based on 
historical experience with similar assets as well as anticipation of future events, which may impact their 
life, such as changes in technology. 
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2. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued) 

c) Bad debts  

We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and grant credit based upon past payment 
history, financial condition, and anticipated industry conditions. Customer payments are regularly 
monitored and a provision for doubtful accounts is established based upon specific situations and 
overall industry conditions. Our history of bad debt losses has been within expectations and is generally 
limited to specific customer circumstances.  This is potentially a critical judgement; however, we have 
thus far suffered only very limited bad debt expenses. 

d) Intangible assets 

These are valued by determining an estimate of their expected value at the time they are recognised.  
The lives of the Group's assets are reviewed by management at least annually for appropriateness. The 
lives are based on historical experience with similar assets as well as anticipation of future events, which 
may impact their life.  The Group’s intangible assets relate to customer relationships within acquired 
subsidiaries, which are estimated to have a useful economic life of 3 to 5 years. 

e) Revenue recognition 

Sales comprise the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the rendering of services 
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Sales are presented, net of value-added tax, rebates 
and discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group.  

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue and related cost can be reliably measured, 
it is probable that the collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assured and when the 
specific criteria for each of the Group’s activities for its clients are met. 

f) Leases 

The Company has determined that all leases of assets with an absolute value, when new, of £20,000 
(2018: £20,000) or less, will be classified and accounted for as ‘low-value’ leases. 

In determining the lease term the Group assesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise, or not to 
exercise, options to extend or terminate a lease. This assessment is made at the start of the lease and 
is re-assessed if significant events of changes in circumstances occur that are within the lessee’s control. 
The Directors consider it reasonably certain that the Company will exercise the break clause in its lease. 

The Company uses judgement to assess whether the interest rate implicit in the lease is readily 
determinable. When the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable, the Group 
estimates the incremental borrowing rate based on its external borrowings secured against similar 
asset, adjusted for the term of the lease. 
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3. Segment reporting 

The Group's gross profit on ordinary activities before taxation were derived from the business segments 
below.  Creative services represents the trade in marketing and creative services formerly undertaken 
by Cubo Brand Communications Limited, now carried out by Cubo Communications Group Limited 
alongside its investment business, whilst public relations and experiential marketing represents the 
trade of Inkling Communications Limited from the date it became a subsidiary of the Group in 2018, 
digital marketing represents the trade of Eight and Four Limited and video production represents the 
trade of Feed Films Limited from the date it became a subsidiary of the Group in 2018. 

   2019 2018 
 Gross profit £000 £000 
 Creative services 3,708 4,072 
 Public relations and experiential marketing 1,324 859 
 Video production 359 149 
 Digital marketing 3,127 2,605 
  8,518 7,685 

 

   2019 2018 
 Profit or loss on ordinary activities before taxation £000 £000 
 Creative services 670 963 
 Public relations and experiential marketing  (70) 57 
 Video production 58 15 
 Digital marketing 754 851 
 Head office (709) (583) 
  703 1,303 

Profit or loss on ordinary activities before taxation is shown before intra-group management charges 
and before any loss arising from the disposal of any associates becoming subsidiaries and before any 
impairment of goodwill.   

   2019 2018 
 Net assets/(liabilities) £000 £000 
 Creative services 451 451 
 Public relations and experiential marketing  258 494 
 Video production 118 83 
 Digital marketing 1,880 1,493 
 Head office 6,475 6,268 
  9,182 8,789 

 Head office incorporates the effect of consolidation adjustments.   
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3. Segmental reporting (continued) 

The Group's turnover was generated from clients based in the following geographical markets: 

    UK 
Rest of 

World Total 
  £000 £000 £000 
 Year ended 31 December 2019    
 Creative services  2,753 5,735 8,488 
 Public relations and experiential marketing 2,060 - 2,060 
 Video production 519 - 519 
 Digital marketing 3,021 364 3,385 
  8,353  6,099 14,452 
 Year ended 31 December 2018    
  Creative services 4,135 4,927 9,062 
  Public relations and experiential marketing 1,241 7 1,248 
 Video production 202 - 202 
 Digital marketing 3,150 633 3,783 
  8,728 5,567 14,295 

All assets and liabilities are located within the UK with the exception of certain trade receivables which 
relate to the revenue noted above.   

Turnover totalling £5,668,593 relating to the creative services and digital marketing segments are 
originated by sale transactions carried out with one American client. 

4. Operating profit 

Operating profit is stated after charging: 

   
2019 
£000 

Continuing Dis-
continued 

2018 
£000 

 Staff costs (Note 5) 5,601 4,639 104 4,743 
 Directors’ emoluments (Note 5) 690 654 - 654 
 Depreciation (Note 8) 305 72 1 73 
 Amortisation – intangible assets (Note 9) 199 164 - 164 
 Operating lease rentals – land and buildings (Note 21) - 160 21 181 
 Operating lease rentals – plant and machinery (Note 21) 8 10 - 10 
 Foreign exchange loss 2 1 - 1 
 Auditors’ remuneration for audit services  38 32 5 37 
 Auditors’ remuneration for non-audit services 14 10 - 10 
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5. Staff costs  

The average monthly number of employees (including non-executive Directors) was: 

   2019 2018 
 Directors 5 4 
 Creative services 33 38 
 Public relations and experiential marketing  19 9 
 Video production 3 3 
 Digital marketing 24 22 
  84 76 

Their total aggregate remuneration comprised: 

   2019 2018 
   £000 £000 
 Wages and salaries 4,957 4,227 
 Social security costs 568 474 
 Pension costs 74 38 
 Severance costs 2 4 
  5,601 4,743 

 
Key management compensation during the year was as follows: 

   2019 2018 
   £000 £000 
 Wages, salaries and short-term benefits 685 651 
 Post-employment benefits 5 3 
  690 654 

Pension contributions totalling £4,752 were made during the year in respect of four directors (2018 - 
£2,746).  Amounts paid to the highest paid Director were £201,434 (2018 - £167,913).  The share option 
charge in respect of options held by the highest paid director was £nil (2018 - £nil). 

There was no remuneration paid to key management personnel that is not included above. 
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6. Tax on profit on ordinary activities 

   2019 2018 
   £000 £000 
 Current tax (UK corporation tax at 19.0% (2018 – 19.0%):   
 Current year (169) (293) 
 Prior year 16 31 
 Total current tax charge  (153) (262) 
 Deferred tax:    
 Current year 34 28 
 Total deferred tax charge 34 28 
 Total tax charge (119) (234) 

 

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
as follows: 

   2019 2018 
   £000 £000 

 Profit before tax 703 431 

 
Notional tax (charge)/credit at UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2018 – 
19%) (134) (82) 

 Tax effect of:   
 Gain not subject to Corporation Tax 36 (166) 
 Expenditure disallowed for tax purposes (20) (19) 
 Fixed asset timing differences (17) - 
 Group income - 2 
 Charge relating to prior year 16 31 
 Tax charge for year (119) (234) 

 
7. Goodwill 

The movement on goodwill during the year is set out below.  

   £000 
 At beginning of year 4,822 
 Acquisitions (64) 
  Impairment - 
  At end of year 4,758 

Impairment reviews have been undertaken in respect of goodwill in accordance with the policy set out 
in Note 1(h). The value in use of the goodwill arising in the acquisition of Eight & Four Limited, Inkling 
Communications Ltd and Feed Films Ltd is based on the cash flows derived from revenue and costs 
projections. The reviews assumed growth rates of between 0% and 4% and a discount rate of 15%.  The 
Directors believe that no reasonable possible changes in assumptions at the year end will cause the 
value in use to fall below the carrying value and hence impair the goodwill. 

Goodwill at the end of the year comprised the following substantial holdings: 

   £000 
 Cubo 2,391 
 Eight and Four 2,383 
 Inkling (16) 
  Total goodwill 4,758 
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8. Property, plant and equipment 

 For the year ended 31 December 2019: Right-of-use 
assets 

Short 
leasehold 

premises 

Plant and 
machinery 

Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Cost:     
 At beginning of year - 178 448 626 
 Adjustment on transition to IFRS 16 509 - - 509 
 Additions - 99 79 178 
 Disposals - - - - 
  At end of year 509 277 527 1,313 
 Depreciation:     
 At beginning of year - 132 376 508 
 Acquisitions - - - - 
 Charge for year 210 48 47 305 
 Disposals - - - - 
  At end of year 210 180 423 813 
 Net book value:     
 At beginning of year 0 46 72 118 
  At end of year 299 97 104 500 

 

 For the year ended 31 December 2018: Short 
leasehold 

premises 

Plant and 
machinery 

Total 

  £000 £000 £000 
 Cost:    
 At beginning of year 139 315 454 
 Acquisitions - 106 106 
 Additions 39 28 67 
 Disposals - (1) (1) 
  At end of year 178 448 626 
 Depreciation:    
 At beginning of year 99 246 345 
 Acquisitions - 90 90 
 Charge for year 33 40 73 
 Disposals - - - 
  At end of year 132 376 508 
 Net book value:    
 At beginning of year 40 69 109 
  At end of year 46 72 118 
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9. Intangible assets 

 Customer relationships Total 
 For the year ended 31 December 2019: £000 
 Cost:  
 At beginning of year 925 
 Additions - 
 Disposals - 
  At end of year 925 
 Amortisation:  
 At beginning of year 229 
 Charge for year 199 
 Disposals - 
  At end of year 428 
 Net book value:  
 At beginning of year 696 
  At end of year 497 

 

 Customer relationships Total 
 For the year ended 31 December 2018: £000 
 Cost:  
 At beginning of year 645 
 Acquisitions 280 
 Additions - 
 Disposals - 
  At end of year 925 
 Amortisation:  
 At beginning of year 64 
 Charge for year 165 
 Disposals - 
  At end of year 229 
 Net book value:  
 At beginning of year 581 
  At end of year 696 

 
10. Subsidiaries 

The Group’s subsidiary undertakings at the end of the year were as follows:   

   
Country of 

incorporation 
Principal activity Holding 

 Eight and Four Limited UK Digital Marketing 100% 

 
Inkling Communications Limited UK Public Relations & 

Experiential Marketing 
100% 

 Feed Films Limited UK Video Production 100% 
 Cubo Brand Communications Limited UK Dormant 100% 
 The Earned Agency Limited UK Dormant 100% 
 The Media Foundry International Limited UK Non-trading 100% 
 Exedra Consultancy Limited UK Non-trading 100% 
 Paul Simons and Partners Limited UK Non-trading 100% 

 
The registered office of all subsidiaries listed above is Holden House, 57 Rathbone Place, London W1T 
1JU. 
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11. Current assets - trade and other receivables  

   2019 2018 
   £000 £000 
 Amounts receivable from provision of services 2,020 3,090 
 Less: Allowance for expected credit losses - - 
 Prepayments and accrued income 215 74 
 Other debtors 102 795 
  2,337 3,959 

  

   

Expected 
credit loss 
rate 2019   

Carrying 
amount 

2019 

Allowance 
for expected 
credit losses 

   % £000 £000 
 Not overdue 0% 1,201 - 
 0 to 3 months overdue 0% 755 - 
 3 to 6 months overdue 1% 124 - 
 Over 6 months overdue 2% (60) - 
   2,020 - 

 

12. Current liabilities - trade and other payables 

   2019 2018 
   £000 £000 
 Trade creditors 1,222 1,580 
 Other taxation and social security 298 229 
 Accruals 356 490 
 Other creditors  254 1,322 
  2,130 3,621 

13. Current liabilities – contract liabilities 

   2019 2018 
   £000 £000 
 Contract liabilities 744 390 

Reconciliation of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial 
year are set out below: 

   2019 2018 
   £000 £000 
 Opening balance 390 - 
 Transfer to revenue - performance obligations satisfied during the year  (385) - 
 Payments received in advance 739 390 
 Closing balance 744 390 
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13. Current liabilities – contract liabilities (continued) 

The aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that are 
unsatisfied at 31 December 2019 was £744,000 (2018: £390,000) and is expected to be recognised as 
revenue in future periods as follows: 

   2019 2018 
   £000 £000 
 Within 6 months 744 390 
 6 to 12 months - - 
 12 to 18 months - - 
 18 to 24 months - - 
 Closing balance 744 390 

14. Non-current assets classified as held-for-sale and discontinued operations 

Following the Company’s decision to sell the trade and assets of The Media Foundry International 
Limited in 2018, the associated remaining net assets have been classified as held-for-sale. 

The carrying value of The Media Foundry International Limited after classification as held-for-sale is 
made up as follows: 

  2019 
  £000 
 Assets  
 Debtors - 
 Cash 35 
 Total assets at 31 December 2019 35 
 Liabilities  
 Creditors 22 
 Total liabilities at 31 December 2018 22 
 Net carrying amount of disposal group at 31 December 2019 13 

The cash flows from operating, investment and financing activities of The Media Foundry International 
Limited during the year was as follows: 

  2019 2018 
  £000 £000 
 Cash generated from operations (7) (141) 
 Cash flows used in investing activities - 1 
 Taxation - (2) 
 Cash flows used in financing activities - - 
 Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (7) (142) 

15. Reconciliation of profit to cash flows generated from continuing operations 

 Cash flows generated from operations  2019 2018 
  £000 £000 
 Operating profit for continuing operations 703 1,376 
 Charge in respect of share option scheme - 1 
 Depreciation and amortisation charge 503 236 
 Decrease in receivables 600 (907) 
 (Decrease) in payables (115) 1,503 
  1,691 2,209 
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16. Lease liabilities 

The maturity of the gross contractual undiscounted cash flows due on the Group’s lease liabilities is set 
out below based on the period between 31 December 2019 and the contractual maturity date, being 
the date of the break clause. 

 At 31 December 2019 Less than 
1 year 

1 to 5 
years 

More than 
5 years 

Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Property leases – undiscounted cash flows 256 107 - 363 
 Future finance charges on lease liabilities 13 4 - 17 
 Present values of lease liabilities  243 103 - 346 

 

 At 1 January 2019 Less than 
1 year 

1 to 5 
years 

More than 
5 years 

Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Property leases – undiscounted cash flows 182 363 - 545 
 Future finance charges on lease liabilities 19 17 - 36 
 Present values of lease liabilities  163 346 - 509 

The rates of interest implicit in the Company’s lease arrangements is not readily determinable and the 
incremental borrowing rate of 3.75% has been applied in calculating the lease liability. The fair value of 
the Company’s lease obligations is approximately equal to their carrying amount. 

 Effect of leases on financial performance 2019 
  £000 

 

Depreciation charge for the year included in administrative expenses 
for right-of-use assets 

211 

 Interest expense for the year on lease liabilities included in finance costs 19 

 
Effect of leases on cash flows 2019 

£000 

 Total cash outflow for leases in the year 182 

17. Acquisitions  

On 30 June 2019, the Group acquired a further 10% of the issued share capital of Inkling 
Communications Limited and a further 13.3% of Feed Films Limited for a consideration of £264,710.  
This was a buy-out of the non-controlling interests in both companies, with each becoming 100% owned 
subsidiaries.  Transactions to recognise the 100% subsidiaries have been accounted for as equity 
transactions under IFRS10.  
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18. Borrowings 

   2019 2018 
   £000 £000 
 Bank loan - 31 
 Total borrowings - 31 
    
 Amount due for settlement within 12 months - 31 
 Amount due for settlement after 12 months - - 

A bank loan in place at 1 January 2019 incurred interest payable at a rate of 4.0%.  The loan was 
repayable over a three-year period, which ended in May 2019, and was secured via a mortgage 
debenture over the fixed and floating assets of the Group companies. 

19. Deferred tax 

At the year end the Group had a deferred tax liability of £87,000 (2018 - £120,000) and the Company a 
deferred tax liability of £87,000 (2018 - £120,000), relating to timing differences.   

   £000 
 As at 1 January 2019 120 
 Property, plant and equipment 1 
  Amortisation (34) 
  As at 31 December 2019 87 

20. Pensions 

During the year, the Group operated a workplace pension scheme.  The pension cost charge was 
£74,323 (2018 - £38,400). 

21. Financial commitments, right-of-use assets and contingent liabilities 

At the end of the year the Group had total commitments under operating leases as set out below: 

 Operating lease commitments Plant and machinery 
  2019 2018 
  £000 £000 
 Within one year 7 9 
 More than one but within five years 9 16 
 After five years - - 
   16 25 

The right-of-use assets are included in the same line item as where the corresponding underlying assets 
would be presented if they were owned. The table below describes the nature of the Group’s leasing 
activities by type of right-of-use asset recognised on balance sheet: 

 Right-of-use 
asset 

Remaining 
lease term 

Date of 
termination 

option 

Initial 
carrying 
amount  

Additions 
 

£000 

Depreciation 
in the year 

£000 

Impairment 
 

£000 
 Office 

premises 
4 years 

9 months 
1st June 

2021 
509 - 210 - 
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21. Financial commitments, right-of-use assets and contingent liabilities (continued) 

 

 Minimum lease payments under lease liabilities Total 
  £000 
 Current 256 
 Non-current 107 
  363 

Lease liabilities are secured on the related leasehold property asset. The property lease is due to expire 
on 28 September 2024, but with a break clause which is exercisable with an effective date of 1 June 
2021. 

22. Contingent assets  

The Company is contingently liable in respect of a group VAT agreement with The Media Foundry 
International Limited, Eight and Four Limited, Inkling Communications Limited and Feed Films Limited.  
At 31 December 2019, the net VAT group liability was £103,000 (2018: VAT group asset of £7,000). 

23. Share based payments  

The Company grants options from time to time to certain directors and employees under its 2007 
Enterprise Management Incentive Plan.  The value of these share-based payments is measured at the 
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and is expensed on a straight-line basis over 
the vesting period.  The options may be exercised through an Employee Benefit Trust.  The fair value of 
shares and options granted is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in 
equity spread over the period in which the vesting conditions are fulfilled ending on the relevant vesting 
date. The cumulative amount recognised as an expense reflects the extent to which the vesting period 
has expired, adjusted for the estimated number of shares and options that are ultimately expected to 
vest. The periodic charge or credit is the movement in the cumulative position from beginning to end 
of that period. 

  Number of shares 
Weighted average 

exercise price 
 Share options as at 1 January 2019 71,333,332 0.45p 
 Options granted during the year - - 
 Options lapsing during the year (4,000,000) 0.45p 
 Share options as at 31 December 2019 67,333,332 0.45p 

 

During the year, no share options were granted, options over 4,000,000 shares lapsed and no options 
were exercised.  There were no options outstanding as at 31 December 2019.  The share options as at 
31 December 2019 were all issued between December 2010 and February 2016 at an exercise price pf 
0.45p and have an exercise period of 10 years from date of issue. 

The Group recognised a charge of £344 (2018 - £1,781) in relation to share-based payment transactions 
in the year.  The value of the options is measured by the use of the Black-Scholes option pricing model, 
assuming volatility of 50%, an expected life of 3-5 years based on the contractual life of the options, 
and a risk-free rate of 0.59%.  Expected volatility is based on historic volatility of the Group’s share 
price. 

24. Employee Benefit Trust 

The Group operates an Employee Benefit Trust. The purpose of the Trust is to encourage and facilitate 
employees of the group to hold shares in the parent company.  Contributions to the Trust are not 
charged to the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income until the shares vest in employees of the 
company.  Cubo Communications Group Limited made no contributions to the fund in the year (2018 - 
£nil). 
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25. Share capital 

The Company’s called-up, allotted and fully paid share capital is £1.976 million, comprising 197,648,522 
ordinary shares of one penny each.   

26. Related party transactions 

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are wholly owned, have been eliminated 
on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. 

27. Financial instruments 

The Group's financial instruments principally comprise cash at bank and various items such as trade 
debtors and creditors that arise directly from operations. The main purpose of these financial 
instruments is to raise money for the Group's operations.  The Group's policy is to ensure that adequate 
cash is available and the Group does not trade in financial instruments and has not entered into any 
derivative transactions. 

All the material activities of the Group take place in the United Kingdom and consequently there is 
minimal exchange risk.  As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no material foreign currency 
exposures. 

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are interest rate risk and liquidity risk.  
The Directors monitor the cash flows of the Group to ensure that there is sufficient liquidity to meet 
foreseeable needs. The operations of the Group generate cash and the planned growth activities are 
cash generative. 

The Group has taken advantage of the exemption in respect of the disclosure of short-term debtors 
and creditors. 

The fair values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities are not considered to be materially different 
from their book values.    

28. Capital risk management 

The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid 
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

Consistent with others in the industry, the group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This 
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings 
(including ‘current and non-current borrowings’ as shown in the consolidated balance sheet) less cash 
and cash equivalents. Total capital is as the company share capital plus retained reserves.  

29. Post balance sheet events 

The World Health Organisation officially declared the COVID-19 outbreak a global pandemic on 11 
March 2020 and the UK entered its first lockdown from 22 March. The impact of COVID-19 on the UK 
and global economies and businesses is expected to be significant.  The Group considers the emergence 
and spread of COVID-19 to be a non-adjusting post balance sheet event. There has been no material 
adverse impact on the Group’s ongoing ability to trade as a going concern.  Given the inherent 
uncertainties, it is not practical at this time to determine the eventual impact COVID-19 will have on 
the Group or provide a quantitative estimate of any future impact. 
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  2019 2018 
 Note £000 £000 

Assets    
Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  1,774 1,710 
Trade and other receivables 36 1,906 2,305 
Total current assets  3,680  4,015 
Non-current assets    
Goodwill 33 2,690 2,690 
Property, plant and equipment 34 455 76 
Investments in subsidiary undertakings 35 3,519 3,254 
Total non-current assets  6,664 6,020 
Total assets  10,344 10,035 
    
Liabilities    
Current liabilities    
Creditors: amounts falling due within 1 year 37 (2,505) (3,059) 
Lease liabilities  (243) - 
Total current liabilities  (2,748) (3,059) 
Non-current lease liabilities  (103) - 
Total liabilities  (2,851) (3,059) 
    
Net assets  7,493 6,976 

    
Equity    
Called up share capital 25 1,976 1,960 
Treasury shares  (96) (96) 
Share premium account  1,009 922 
Capital redemption reserve  438 438 
Share option reserve  188 187 
Profit and loss account  3,978 3,565 
 
Total equity   7,493 6,976 

 

As permitted by s408 Companies Act, the company has not presented its own profit and loss account and 
related notes as it prepares group accounts. The company’s profit for the year was £413,000 (2018: £199,000). 

The financial statements on pages 38 to 49 were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 
21 December 2020 and are signed on its behalf by 

 

Ian Mansel-Thomas 

Director 
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Called up 
share 

capital 
Treasury 

shares  

Share 
premium 

account 

Share 
option 

reserve 

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 

Profit and 
loss 

account Total 
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

At 1 January 2018 1,960 (96) 922 186 438 3,366 6,776 
Retained profit for the 
year - - - - - 199 199 
Charge for share-based 
payment - -- - 1 - - 1 

At 31 December 2018 1,960 (96) 922 187 438 3,565 6,976 
Retained profit for the 
year - - - - - 413 413 
Buy-out of non-
controlling interest 16 - 87 - - - 103 

Charge for share-based 
payment - - - 1 - - 1 

At 31 December 2019 1,976 (96) 1,009 188 438 3,978 7,493 
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30. Accounting policies 

a) Basis of preparation  

The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 
2006.  They have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and IFRIC interpretations for use in the 
European Union and issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, a separate profit and loss account for the 
Company has not been presented in these financial statements. The parent company had a profit of 
£413,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018 - £199,000).   

The Company financial statements have been prepared in sterling, the functional currency and currency 
in which the majority of the Company’s transactions are denominated. 

The Directors have satisfied themselves that the Company will in due course be able to satisfy all its 
liabilities within its present banking facilities, and have therefore prepared the financial statements on 
the going concern basis. 

The principal accounting policies, which have been consistently applied, are described below. 

b) Standards in effect in 2019 and IFRS in issue  

IFRS 16 is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard 
replaces IAS 17 'Leases' and for lessees eliminates the classifications of operating leases and finance 
leases.  

Subject to exceptions, a 'right-of-use' asset is capitalised in the statement of financial position, 
measured at the present value of the unavoidable future lease payments to be made over the lease 
term. The exceptions relate to short-term leases of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets 
(such as personal computers and small office furniture) where an accounting policy choice exists 
whereby either a 'right-of-use' asset is recognised or lease payments are expensed to profit or loss as 
incurred. A liability corresponding to the capitalised lease will also be recognised, adjusted for lease 
prepayments, lease incentives received, initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of any future 
restoration, removal or dismantling costs. Straight-line operating lease expense recognition will be 
replaced with a depreciation charge for the leased asset (included in operating costs) and an interest 
expense on the recognised lease liability (included in finance costs).  

In the earlier periods of the lease, the expenses associated with the lease under IFRS 16 will be higher 
when compared to lease expenses under IAS 17. However, EBITDA results will be improved as the 
operating expense is replaced by interest expense and depreciation in profit or loss under IFRS 16. For 
classification within the statement of cash flows, the lease payments will be separated into both a 
principal (financing activities) and interest (either operating or financing activities) component. 

Adoption of IFRS 16 

During the year, the Company adopted IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ (IFRS 16) for the first time. IFRS 16 replaces IAS 
17 ‘Leases’. 

The main change on application of IFRS 16 is the accounting for ‘operating leases’ where rentals payable 
(as adjusted for lease incentives) were previously expensed under IAS 17 on a straight- line basis over 
the lease term. 

Under IFRS 16 a right-of-use asset and a lease liability are recognised for all leases except ‘low- value’ 
and ‘short-term’ leases where lease payments are recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

The Company has applied IFRS 16 retrospectively to all leases, but has elected to recognise any 
cumulative effect against opening reserves at 1 January 2019 under the modified retrospective 
approach. Therefore, the comparative figures are as previously reported under IAS 17. The Company 
has applied this approach subject to the transition provisions set out below. 
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30. Accounting policies (continued) 

b) Standards in effect in 2019and IFRS in issue (continued) 

• For all contracts that existed prior to 1 January 2019, the Company has not applied IFRS 16 to reassess 
whether each contract is, or contains, a lease. 

• The right-of-use assets have not been assessed for impairment at 1 January 2019, but have been 
reduced by the amount of any onerous lease provisions at that date. 

• Initial direct costs have been excluded from the measurement of the right-of-use assets, which have 
been recognised at an amount equal to the lease liability on the date of initial application. 

• Hindsight has been applied in determining the lease term for contracts that contain lease extension 
or termination options. 

The amounts recognised for leases at 1 January 2019, have been measured as follows: 

Operating leases under IAS 17, except ‘low value’ and ‘short-term’ leases 

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments at 1 January 2019, 
discounted at the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at that date. 

The right-of-use asset is measured as if IFRS 16 had been applied from commencement of the lease, but 
using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019 to discount future payments. 

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognised by the Group 
at 1 January 2019 is 3.75%. 

 
Reconciliation of lease liability: £0000 

IAS 17 operating lease commitment at 31 December 2018 545 

Impact of discounting (36) 

Additional lease term assessment - 

IFRS 16 lease liability at 1 January 2019 509 

 
The additional lease term assessment relates to the Company’s break clause in the lease, on 1 June 2021. 
On transition, the Company is reasonably certain that this will be exercised. 

There have been improvements and amendments to standards which provide clarifications rather than 
substantive changes to requirements and these have not had a material effect on the financial 
statements.  These improvements and amendments were: 

• Amendments to IAS 28: Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures  
• Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 
• Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle 

The following IFRS and IFRIC Interpretations have been issued but have not been applied by the 
Company in preparing these financial statements as they are not as yet effective. The Company intends 
to adopt these Standards and Interpretations when they become effective, rather than adopt them 
early. 

• Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards 
• Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material 
• Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 
• Amendments to IFRS 3: Business Combinations 
• Amendment to IFRS 16: Leases – COVID 19-Related Rent Concessions  

The directors do not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material impact 
on the Company in future periods. 
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30. Accounting policies (continued) 

c) Retirement benefit costs 

During the year, the Company operated a defined contribution pension scheme. 
d) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is taken on fee income in the period to which it relates. Project income is recognised in the 
period in which the project is worked on. For projects which fall over the financial year end, income is 
recognised to reflect the partial performance of the contractual obligations in accordance with IAS18. 

Third party costs and the associated income relating to bought in costs directly rechargeable to clients 
are recognised in the period to which they relate. 

e) Taxation 

The tax charge or credit represents the sum of current tax and deferred tax.  

The current tax charge or credit is based on taxable profit or loss for the year.  Taxable profit or loss 
differs from profit or loss on ordinary activities before taxation as reported in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 
in other years, and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Company's liability for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit or loss, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.  
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax 
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available, against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.  Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business 
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit or loss 
nor the accounting profit or loss. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Company is able to control 
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of 
the asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is 
settled or the asset is realised.  Deferred tax is charged or credited in the profit or loss, except when it 
relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with 
in equity. 

 



CUBO COMMUNICATIONS GROUP LTD 

Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2019 

NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Page 43 

30. Accounting policies (continued) 

f) Goodwill 

Goodwill arising from the purchase of subsidiary undertakings represents the difference between the 
purchase consideration and the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
of a subsidiary acquired, and is capitalised in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 3. Future 
anticipated payments to vendors in respect of earn-outs are based on the Directors’ best estimates of 
these obligations. Earn-outs are dependent on the future performance of the relevant business and are 
reviewed annually. The deferred consideration is discounted to its fair value in accordance with IFRS 3 
and IAS 37. The difference between the fair value of these liabilities and the actual amounts payable is 
charged to the profit and loss account as notional finance costs over the life of the associated liability.  

Goodwill impairment is assessed in accordance with IAS 36.  Impairment has taken place if the carrying 
amount of an asset is greater than its ‘recoverable amount’.  The recoverable amount of an asset is the 
higher of its ‘fair value’ (less the likely costs of disposal) and its ‘value in use’.  Fair value is the price that 
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in the principal 
(or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market conditions.  Value in 
use is the discounted present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset.  The 
discount rate used is the risk-free rate of interest adjusted to reflect the risk associated with the asset.  
This adjusted discount rate should reflect the return that an investor would require from an investment 
in such an asset.  Impairment is recognised in the income statement and is not subsequently reversed.   

On disposal of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill is 
included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.  

g) Investments in associates 

Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the parent company’s balance sheet at cost less any provisions 
for impairments.   

Associates are those entities in which the Company has significant control or joint control, over the 
financial and operating policies.  Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Company holds 
between 20 percent and 50 percent of the voting power of another entity. 

Investments in associates are accounted for under the equity method and are recognised initially at 
cost.   

If at the end of a reporting period there is an indication that an investment in an associate may be 
impaired, the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment.  If the carrying amount 
of the investment is found to be less than its recoverable amount, the carrying amount is reduced to 
its recoverable amount and an impairment loss is immediately recognised in profit or loss. 

h) Leases 

On commencement of a contract (or part of a contract) which gives the Company the right to use an 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration, the Company recognises a right-of- use asset 
and a lease liability unless the lease qualifies as a ‘short-term’ lease or a ‘low-value’ lease. 

Short-term leases 

Where the lease term is twelve months or less and the lease does not contain an option to purchase 
the leased asset, lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. 

Leases of low-value assets 

Leases where the underlying asset is ‘low-value’, lease payments are recognised as an expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 
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30. Accounting policies (continued) 

h) Leases (continued) 

Initial and subsequent measurement of the right-of-use asset 

A right-of-use asset is recognised at commencement of the lease and initially measured at the amount 
of the lease liability, plus any incremental costs of obtaining the lease and any lease payments made at 
or before the leased asset is available for use by the Company. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. The depreciation methods applied are as follows: 

Leased property  on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the  
   useful life (5.75 years to September 2024) 

The right-of-use asset is adjusted for any re-measurement of the lease liability and lease modifications. 

Initial measurement of the lease liability 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments during the lease term 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or the incremental borrowing rate if the interest 
rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined. 

The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease plus extension periods that the Company is 
reasonably certain to exercise and termination periods that the Company is reasonably certain not to 
exercise. 

Subsequent measurement of the lease liability 

The lease liability is subsequently increased for a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the lease liability and reduced for lease payments. Interest on the lease liability is recognised 
in profit or loss. 

Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability as they are not 
dependent on an index or rate, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the event or 
condition that triggers those payments occurs. 

Remeasurement of the lease liability 

The lease liability is adjusted for changes arising from the original terms and conditions of the lease that 
change the lease term, the Company’s assessment of its option to purchase the leased asset, the 
amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and/or changes in lease payments 
due to a change in an index or rate. The adjustment to the lease liability is recognised when the change 
takes effect and is adjusted against the right-of-use asset, unless the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset is reduced to nil, when any further adjustment is recognised in profit or loss. 

Adjustments to the lease payments arising from a change in the lease term or the lessee’s assessment 
of its option to purchase the leased asset are discounted using a revised discount rate. The revised 
discount rate is calculated as the interest rate implicit in the lease for the remainder of the lease term, 
or if that rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate at the date of 
reassessment. 

Changes to the amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and changes to lease 
payments due to a change in an index or rate are recognised when the change takes effect, and are 
discounted at the original discount rate unless the change is due to a change in floating interest rates, 
when the discount rate is revised to reflect the changes in interest rate. 

Lease modifications 

A lease modification is a change that was not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease and 
is accounted for as a separate lease if it increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one 
or more additional assets with a commensurate adjustment to the payments under the lease. 
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30. Accounting policies (continued) 

h) Leases (continued) 

For a lease modification not accounted for as a separate lease, the lease liability is adjusted for the 
revised lease payments, discounted using a revised discount rate. The revised discount rate used is the 
interest rate implicit in the lease for the remainder of the lease term, or if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the lessee company's incremental borrowing rate at the date of the modification. 

Where the lease modification decreases the scope of the lease, the carrying amount of the right- of-
use asset is reduced to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease. Any difference between the 
adjustment to the lease liability and the adjustment to the right-of-use asset is recognised in profit or 
loss. 

For all other lease modifications, the adjustment to the lease liability is recognised as an adjustment to 
the right-of-use asset. 

i) Leases under IAS17 

The following accounting policies were applied to leases in the year ended 31 December 2018: 

Leases were classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership to the Company. All other leases were classified as operating leases. 

Rentals payable under operating leases were expensed on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease (such 
as up-front cash payments and reimbursement of relocation costs or the cost of lease improvements) 
were also spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

j) Non-current assets 

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any provision for impairment.  
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful economic lives of assets, at 
rates of 25% - 33% per annum.  Leasehold improvements are amortised over the lease term.   

Any gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the income statement. 

k) Share-based payment 

The Company grants options over its shares to certain directors and employees under the Group’s 
Enterprise Management Incentive Plan.  The value of these share-based payments is measured at the 
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and is expensed on a straight-line basis over 
the vesting period.  

l) Segment reporting 

Segmental information is presented based on the way in which financial information is reported 
internally to the chief operating decision maker. The company’s internal financial reporting is organised 
along product and service lines and therefore segmental information has been presented about 
business segments. A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing 
products and services that are subject to risks and returns which are different from those of other 
business segments. 

The results of certain operating segments may be aggregated if they are sufficiently similar in nature. 
Where a business segment contributes in excess of either 10% of total revenue, 10% of total assets or 
10% of the absolute amount of reported profit or loss, it is disclosed as a separate segment.  

Information regarding geographical revenues and non-current assets is disclosed in note 3 to the   
financial statements.  
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30. Accounting policies (continued) 

m) Foreign currency translation 

Foreign currency transactions are translated using the rate of exchange applicable at the date of the 
transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and 
from the re-translation at the year end of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the income statement. 

n) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and other short term highly liquid 
deposits with original maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings 
in current liabilities on the Statement of Financial Position. 

o) Trade payables 

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. As the payment period of trade payables is short future cash 
payments are not discounted as the effect is not material. 

p) Trade receivables 

Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value as reduced by 
appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts. 

31. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial information in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice, in 
the case of the Company being International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 
Union, requires the directors to make estimates and judgements that affect the reported amount of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenditure and the disclosures made in the financial statements. Such 
estimates and judgements must be continually evaluated based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events. 

The significant judgements made by management in applying the Company’s accounting policies as set 
out above, and the key sources of estimation, were as follows. 

a) Impairment of goodwill 

The group tests goodwill annually for impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in 
note 1 above. The value in use calculation requires the Company to estimate the future cash flows 
expected to arise from each cash generating unit and also to estimate a suitable discount rate in order 
to calculate the present values of the anticipated future cash flows. 

b) Plant and equipment 

The charge in respect of periodic depreciation is derived after determining an estimate of an asset's 
expected useful life and the expected residual value at the end of its life. Increasing an asset's expected 
life or its residual value would result in a reduced depreciation charge in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  The useful lives of the Company's assets are determined by management at 
the time the asset is acquired and reviewed at least annually for appropriateness. The lives are based 
on historical experience with similar assets as well as anticipation of future events, which may impact 
their life, such as changes in technology. 

c) Bad debts 

We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and grant credit based upon past   payment 
history, financial condition, and anticipated industry conditions. Customer payments are regularly 
monitored and a provision for doubtful accounts is established based upon specific situations and 
overall industry conditions. Our history of bad debt losses has been within expectations and is generally 
limited to specific customer circumstances. 
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32. Fixed asset investments 

Investments held as fixed assets are stated at cost less any provisions for impairment. 

33. Goodwill 

The value of goodwill at 1 January 2019 was £2,690,000 and at 31 December 2019 £2,690,000.  The 
opening balance of £2,690,000 represents the carrying value of the Company’s investment in Cubo 
Brand Communications Limited, the trade and assets of which were transferred to the Company on 30 
November 2010.   

The directors are of the view that the goodwill has an indefinite useful economic life and as such do not 
provide for amortisation of the goodwill. 

34. Property, plant and equipment 

 For the year ended 31 December 2019: Right-of-use 
assets 

Short 
leasehold 

premises 

Plant and 
machinery 

Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Cost:     
 At beginning of year - 178 185 363 
 Adjustment on transition to IFRS 16 509 - - 509 
 Additions - 98 52 150 
 Disposals - - - - 
  At end of year 509 276 237 1,022 
 Depreciation:     
 At beginning of year - 132 155 287 
 Charge for year 210 48 22 280 
 Disposals - - - - 
  At end of year 210 180 177 567 
 Net book value:     
 At beginning of year 0 46 30 76 
  At end of year 299 96 60 455 

 

 For the year ended 31 December 2018: Short 
leasehold 

premises 

Plant and 
machinery 

Total 

  £000 £000 £000 
 Cost:    
 At beginning of year 139 177 316 
 Additions 39 8 47 
 Disposals - - - 
  At end of year 178 185 363 
 Depreciation:    
 At beginning of year 99 143 242 
 Charge for year 33 12 45 
 Disposals - - - 
  At end of year 132 155 287 
 Net book value:    
 At beginning of year 40 34 74 
  At end of year 46 30 76 
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35. Investments in subsidiary undertakings 

   £000 
 At beginning of year 3,254 
 Acquisitions 265 
 Impairment - 
 Disposals - 
 At end of year 3,519 

Details of the Company’s subsidiary undertakings at the end of the year are given in Note 10.  

36. Trade and other receivables 

   2019 2018 
   £000 £000 
 Trade debtors  1,408 1,998 
 Amounts owed by Group undertakings  342 264 
 Prepayments and accrued income 146 21 
 Other debtors 10 22 
  1,906 2,305 

 

37. Trade and other payables                                                                             

   2019 2018 
   £000 £000 
 Trade creditors  636 627 
 Amounts owed to Group undertakings  1,061 1,111 
 Corporation tax 91 138 
 Accruals  135 287 
 Other taxation and social security 97 90 
 Bank loan repayable within 12 months - 31 
 Other creditors  728 775 
  2,748 3,059 

The Company had no overdraft at the end of the year.   

38. Financial commitments, right-of-use assets and contingent liabilities 

At the end of the year the Company had total commitments under operating leases as set out below: 

 Operating lease commitments Plant and machinery 
  2019 2018 
  £000 £000 
 Within one year 7 9 
 More than one but within five years 9 16 
 After five years - - 
   16 25 
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38. Financial commitments, right-of-use assets and contingent liabilities (continued) 

The right-of-use assets are included in the same line item as where the corresponding underlying assets 
would be presented if they were owned. The table below describes the nature of the Company’s leasing 
activities by type of right-of-use asset recognised on balance sheet: 

 

 Right-of-use 
asset 

Remaining 
lease term 

Date of 
termination 

option 

Initial 
carrying 
amount  

Additions 
 

£000 

Depreciation 
in the year 

£000 

Impairment 
 

£000 
 Office 

premises 
4 years 

9 months 
1st June 

2021 
509 - 210 - 

 

 Minimum lease payments under lease liabilities Total 
  £000 
 Current 256 
 Non-current 107 
  363 

Lease liabilities are secured on the related leasehold property asset. The property lease is due to expire 
on 28 September 2024, but with a break clause which is exercisable with an effective date of 1 June 
2021. 

39. Employment Benefit Trust 

The Company operates an Employee Benefit Trust. The purpose of the Trust is to encourage and 
facilitate employees of the Company to hold shares in the Company. 

Contributions to the Trust are not charged to the profit and loss account until the shares vest in 
employees of the company. Cubo Communications Group Limited made no contributions to the fund 
in the year (2018 - nil). 

40. Related party transactions 

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which wholly owned, have been eliminated on 
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.  Related party transactions involving the Company are 
disclosed in Note 26.   

41. Post balance sheet events 

Post balance sheet events involving the Company are disclosed in Note 29.   


